

# BYE - LAWS

**O F**

THE PUNJAB STATE  
FEDERATION OF COOPERATIVE  
SUGAR MILLS LIMITED,  
BHOGPUR AT CHANDIGARH

**AS AMENDED IN 1995**

**THE BYE-LAWS**  
**OF**  
**THE PUNJAB STATE FEDERATION**  
**OF**  
**COOPERATIVE SUGAR MILLS LIMITED, BHOGPUR AT CHANDIGARH AS**  
**AMENDED IN 1995**

**1. Name :**

The Cooperative Society hereinafter referred to as Sugarfed shall be called "The Punjab State Federation of Cooperative Sugar Mills Ltd."

**2. Address:**

The registered address of the Sugarfed shall be Bhogpur at Chandigarh. Any change in its address shall be communicated to the 'Registrar'.

**3. Area of operation :**

The area of operation of the Federation shall be whole of Punjab State. However, the business activities may be carried out anywhere in India and abroad in accordance with the objects of the Federation.

**4. Definitions :**

The words and terms used in these bye-laws, unless the context otherwise requires, shall have the meaning as has been assigned to them hereunder :-

- (a) "Act" means the Punjab Cooperative Societies Act, 1961.
- b) "Rules means the Punjab Cooperative Societies Rules, 1963.
- c) "Bye-laws" means the registered Bye-laws of the Sugarfed.
- d) "Registrar" means the Registrar, Cooperative Societies Punjab or any officer subordinate to him and vested with the powers of the Registrar under Section 3 (3) of the Punjab Cooperative Societies Act, 1961.
- e) "General Body" means the General Body of the Sugarfed duly constituted as per provisions of the Act, Rules and Bye-laws.
- f) "Employee" means a member of the service of Sugarfed.

- g) "Board" means the Board of Directors of the Sugarfed duly constituted as per provisions of the Act, Rules and Bye-laws.
- h) "Chairman" means the Chairman of the Board of Directors of the Sugarfed.
- i) "Managing Director" means the Managing Director of the Sugarfed.
- j) "Sugar Mills" means any Cooperative Sugar Mills (including its ancillary and allied industries) registered in the State of Punjab under the Punjab Cooperative Societies Act, 1961.
- k) "Government" means the Government of the State of Punjab.
- l) "Financing Institution" means the State Cooperative bank, the Industrial Development Bank of India, the Industrial Finance Corporation of India, the Industrial Credit and Investment Corporation of India, the National Cooperative Development Corporation or any other Corporation or Bank providing team loan to the Sugarfed;
- m) "Cooperative Year" means the year beginning with 1st of April and ending on 31st March; and
- n) The words and expression defined in the Act and Rules and used in these Bye-laws shall, unless the subject and contents otherwise require have meaning assigned to them in the Act and Rules.

**5. object of the federation :**

5.1 The Sugarfed shall assist in the promotion and organisation of Sugar Mills and shall facilitate and coordinate the working of such mills, in the State of Punjab.

5.2 In pursuance of the objects stated above in bye-law 5.1, the Sugarfed may:

- i) provide technical know-how and other assistance in the selection, purchase, installation and maintenance of plant, machinery and other equipments including expansion proposal's cogeneration and down-stream industrialisation;
- ii) select key Administrative and Technical Personnel and constituting Common Cadre for such posts in the Sugar Mills with M.D. Sugarfed responsible for administering the Common Cadre;
- iii) recommend for Implementation measures for improving the operational efficiency of the Sugar Mills and the quality of sugar and of by-products of such mills;
- iv) render technical, administrative and financial assistance by the Sugar Mills and assist mills in standardising the accounting, costing and evaluation methods and practices;
- v) assist the sugar mills in securing financial assistance from the State or Central Government or from other 'Financing Institutions'.

- vi) purchase or assist in purchase in bulk, gunny bags sulphur, limestone, coal, lubricants, chemicals spares and stores required by the sugar mills for their use and for the use of their ancillary units and allied industries;
- vii) negotiate on behalf of the mills, the sale of sugar and other products/by-products of mills with a view to ensure remunerative prices;
- viii) appoint agents on payment of remuneration or commission for such sales and establish depots if required for the sale of sugar and other products/by-products;
- ix) undertake export of sugar;
- x) disseminate knowledge relating to taxation, Industrial and Labour Laws and other related laws to the Sugar Mills;
- xi) represent the Sugar Mills on such bodies as may be established from time to time by the State or Central Government or other Institutions;
- xii) take up research studies connected with the working of Sugar Mills and may create research and development cell in the Sugarfed;
- xiii) furnish market intelligence to the Sugar Mills connected with procurement of raw material, store articles etc. and sale of finished products/by-products;
- xiv) hold periodical meetings, seminars and conferences workshops and arrange training courses for all or any of the matters related with the functioning of sugar mills and also to find means for improving yield of sugarcane/sugar beet;
- xv) undertake research for the development of sugarcane or sugar beet and may establish demonstration centres for helping the growers to adopt better management techniques, and take up cultivation of improved varieties of such crops and plant protection measures;
- xvi) establish subsidiary, ancillary and allied industries which may be conducive for the establishment, development and maintenance of sugar Industry in the State;
- xvii) run the sick Sugar Mills at their own risk and cost with the approval of the Registrar; or to acquire purchase, take on lease or otherwise take over any other sugar mills as approved by the Registrar;
- xviii) purchase, acquire on lease or hire land or buildings as may be necessary and may establish godowns and show room for its use and or for use by the mills;
- xix) assist the sugar mills in the procurement and distribution of good fertilizers, insecticides, pesticides, weedicides and chemicals as may be necessary for raising sugarcane or sugar-beet crops and improving yield thereof;

- xx) make arrangements in consultation with the Mills for aerial spray of sugarcane or sugar-beet crops on custom basis;
- xxi) provide credit or stand guarantee for securing credit for the sugar mills to overcome financial difficulties;
- xxii) subscribe to the share capital of sugar mills and other cooperative societies, with the approval of Registrar.
- xxiii) raise funds for its business;
- xxiv) guide, assist, advise and supervise the working of members sugar mills;
- xxv) enter into callaboration with Cooperative Societies or other organisations/undertakings in India or abroad in fulfilment of any of its objects. However, collaboration with institutions other than cooperatives shall be with the approval of Govt. under Section 77 of the Act; and
- xxvi) undertake periodical inspection of the functioning of the Sugar Mills.

5.3 Sugarfed shall undertake all activities and shall take all other steps as may be necessary, incidental and conducive for the attainment and fulfilment of all or any of the objects mentioned in 5.2 above.

## **6. share capital :**

6.1 The authorised share-capital of the Sugarfed shall be Rupees twenty crore comprising 2,00,000 shares of the value of Rupees one thousand each. The authorised share capital of the Sugarfed may be raised with the permission of the Registrar.

6.2 The application for allotment of shares shall be made to the Managing Director in the form prescribed for the purpose.

6.3 The Sugarfed shall issue to the members Share Certificates bearing distinctive numbers duly embossed with the seal of the Sugarfed and signed by the Managing Director and or one of the Directors authorised by the Board to do so.

6.4 The Sugarfed may, in the event of loss of the original certificates issue duplicate certificate on payment of Rs.50/- per certificate. Before doing so the Sugarfed Shall obtain indemnity bond and the Board shall resolve to issue duplicate share certificates.

## **7. finds:**

The Sugarfed may raise funds by way of :

- i) admission fee;
- ii) share capital;

- iii) grants subsidies, donation, contribution, securities, deposits, and other financial assistance from state and central govt. members and others.
- iv) debenturers; and
- v) loans from the financing institutions, scheduled banks, Govt. (Central) and State), members and others;
- vi) production cess.

**membership:**

8.1 The membership of the Sugarfed shall be open to :-

- a) the Sugar Mills, registered under the Punjab Cooperative Societies Act, 1961;
- b) Cooperative Societies registered for the purpose of setting up any unit using sugarcane/beat as raw material or using by products of Sugar Mills;
- c) Punjab Government;
- d) any other Cooperative Societies/Class of Cooperative Societies as permitted by Registrar for the purpose.

8.2 The Sugarfed may admit 'nominal' and 'associate' members.

8.3 Every member shall have to apply in writing for membership to the Managing Director of Sugarfed and pay Rs. 100/- on account of admission fee and atleast Rs. 1000/- on account of the value of one share of the Sugarfed. Such application shall be disposed of by the Board within one month from the date of its receipt and the decision shall be communicated to the applicant. No person shall be treated to have been admitted to membership unless the Board has resolved to admit him as such with the approval of Registrar, the Board may at any time require the members to make additional contribution to the share capital of Sugarfed.

**8.4 Removal or suspension of committee or member thereof :**

If the opinion of the Registrar, Committee or any member of BOD persistently make default or is negligent in the performance of the duties imposed on it or him by this Act or the Rules or bye-laws made thereunder, or commits any act which is prejudicial to the interest of the Sugarfed or its member or makes default in the implementation production or development programmes undertaken by the Sugarfed, the Registrar may remove any Director of Board or any member as per provision of section 27(1) of the Punjab Cooperative Societies Act; 1961.

**9. liability :**

The liability of a member for deficit in the assets of the Sugarfed in the event of its being wound up shall be equal to the value of shares subscribed by the member.

**10. CeAsation from membership :**

A person shall cease to be a member of the Sugarfed:

- a) on ceasing to be a body `corporate';
- or
- b) on expulsion from membership by the authority competent to do so;
- or
- c) on ceasing to hold at least one share.

**11. Maximum credit limit :**

The maximum credit limit of the Sugarfed shall be determined by the General Body, from time to time, subject to the approval of the Registrar.

**12. Transfer of shares:**

The shares may be transferred only to members with the approval of the Board.

**13. general body:**

13.1 The final authority of the Sugarfed shall vest in the General Body subject to the provisions of the Act, Rules and the Bye-laws.

13.2 The General Body of the Sugarfed shall comprise:

- a) representatives (one each) of all the member cooperative societies.
- b) nominees of the Government if Government has subscribed to the shares capital of Sugarfed.
- c) Registrar or his nominee.

13.3 The General Body of the Sugerfed shall meet from time to time but atleast once in a year. The meeting of the General Body shall be convened by the Managing Director under the directions of the Board. A special General meeting shall be convened if a requisition, for holding such a meeting signed by one fifth of the total number of memebms, is received by the Sugarfed. If the special general meeting is not convened within 30 days from the receipt of the requisition, the signatories to the requisition, may refer the issue to the Registrar. Who may if he thinks fit, summon the General Body meeting. Registrar may on his own motion summon a meeting of the General Body at any time, if he thinks it necessary to do so.

13.4 At least 15 days clear notice, specifying the date, place, time and agenda of the general meeting shall be given to all members under, certificate of posting. The meeting of the General Body shall be convened at the headquarters of the Sugarfed. The quorum at a general meetings or a special general meeting shall be 1/4th of the total number of members of the Sugarfed on the date of notice. If there is no quorum within one hour of the time fixed for the meeting, the meeting shall stand adjourned, and if the meeting had been called on the basis of requisition the same shall stand cancelled. A fresh general meeting or a special general meeting may be called after giving due notice. If there is no quorum, at the reconvened meeting, within one hour of the appointed time for the meeting, then the members present shall constitute quorum.

The Chairman or in his absence, the Vice Chairman shall preside over the meeting of the General Body. When both of them are absent the members present shall elect a Chairman for the meeting.

13.5 Unless otherwise provided in the Act, Rules or these Bye-laws, every resolution at a general meeting or a special general meeting shall be passed by majority of votes. In the event of equality of votes, the Chairman of the meeting shall have a casting vote.

13.6 Every member of the General Body shall have one vote and the representation of member societies shall cast their votes in person.

13.7 Notwithstanding anything contained in these bye-laws the General Body shall meet once in a year and shall have following powers and duties :-

- a) approval of the programme of activities of the Sugarfed prepared by the Board for the ensuing year;
- b) election, if any, of members of the Board other than nominated members in case the election is not held by formation of zones;
- c) consideration of the audit report and the annual report;
- d) disposal of the net profits;
- e) fixation of maximum credit limits;
- f) expulsion of members from membership of the Sugarfed.

13.8 The matters resolved as per agenda at a general meeting or a special general meeting shall be recorded in the proceedings book of the Sugarfed and shall be signed by the Chairman of meeting and the Managing Director.

#### **14. Board of Directors :**

The Board shall comprise the following :-

- a) One each representation from members Sugar Mills.



- b) One nominee of the Financing Institutions.
- c) Nominees of the Government if Government has subscribed towards the share capital of the Sugarfed.
- d) Registrar or his nominee.
- e) The Managing Director, and
- f) The Director Sugarcane Research Station of the Punjab Agricultural University, Ludhiana as Technical expert.

14.2 The elected members of the Board shall elect one of them as Chairman and another as Vice Chairman. The term of the Chairman and Vice Chairman shall be co-terminus with the term of the Board. The elected Chairman or/and elected Vice Chairman can be removed by vote of no confidence by a resolution passed by 2/3 majority of the elected members of the Board. The new Chairman and Vice Chairman shall be elected for the remaining term of the Board. The nominated members of the Board shall not vote in the election or removal of the Chairman/Vice Chairman.

14.3 The term of office of the Board shall be five years from the date of its election. No person shall be eligible for being elected to the Board of the Sugarfed after he has served on the Board for two continuous terms unless a period of not less than one term has expired since he last so served. An interim vacancy caused in the Board shall be filled by election in the concerned zone for the remaining term of the Board.

14.4. The Board shall meet atleast once in three months. The meeting of the Board shall be summoned by the Managing Director at a clear cut notice of 15 days. The notice shall contain items of agenda to be considered in the meeting, and also the date, place and time of such a meeting. An emergent meeting of the Board may be convened by the Managing Director with the prior permission of the Registrar, one third of total number of members of the Board shall form quorum for the meeting of the Board. The meeting shall be presided over by the Chairman or in his absence by the Vice Chairman. If both of them are absent, one of the Directors may be chosen to preside over such a meeting. Each member of the Board shall have one vote. All decisions shall be taken by the majority of votes. In the event of equality of votes the matter shall be postponed to the next meeting. If there is again equality of votes, the Chairman shall have an additional casting vote.

14.5 Any three or one third of the total members of the Board, whichever is less, may, in writing request the Managing Director to summon a special meeting of the Board and may propose items of agenda to be considered in such a meeting. On receipt of such a requisition the Managing Director, shall convene a meeting of the Board. If within seven days of the receipt of the requisition, the Managing Director fails to summon the meeting, the Registrar, on the application of the signatories of the requisition, may summon a meeting of the Board after giving due notice to all the members as may be required under the Rules or the Bye-laws.

14.6 The Board may from time to time, constitute its smaller Committees not more than two Committee at a time for discharging any specific functions of the Board subject to the provision of the Bye-laws, Act and Rules. Such Committee shall be of five members provided further that Managing Director and Registrar or his nominee on the Board shall be the member of such a smaller committee. In case of difference of opinion between the Managing Director/Registrar or his nominee and the remaining members of the Committee the matter shall be placed before the Board, whose decision shall be taken as per the provision of Act, Rules and Bye-laws.

14.7 The matters resolved in the meetings of the Board as per agenda or in its sub committee including marking of attendance shall be recorded in the proceedings book and shall be signed by the Chairman and the Managing Director.

14.8 The services of the members of the Board, the Chairman and the Vice Chairman shall be honorary but travelling allowance for attending the meeting shall be paid according to the scale prescribed by the Board and approved by the Registrar.

**15. Dis-qualifications for members of the board :**

15.1 No person shall be eligible for election as a member of the Board, if he :-

- a) is not a member of the Managing Committee of the Sugar Mills he represents; or
- b) is below 25 years of age; or
- c) is a paid employee of Government, the Sugarfed, any other body 'Cooperative' or
- d) has been convicted of any offence involving moral turpitude and dis-honesty; or
- e) has been dismissed from any service; or
- f) is related to any officer of the Sugarfed; or
- g) holds an office of profit under the Sugarfed or the Sugar Mills; or
- h) is a representative of a Sugar Mill, which has not made payments of its dues as per provisions of section 17 of the Act; or
- i) is subject to any disqualification as laid down in the Act and the Rules.

**15.2 An elected member of the Board shall cease to hold office if he:**

- a) incurs an dis-qualification laid down under the Act or Rules or the Bye-laws; or
- b) ceases to be a member of Board of Directors/Managing Committee of the Cooperative Society he represents; or

- c) absents himself from three consecutive meetings of the Board without sufficient cause; or
- d) resigns his office: or
- e) is interested or becomes interested directly or indirectly in any contract/transaction involving financial interest, made with the Sugarfed or in any sale/purchase made by the Federation privately or in auction.

**16. powers and functions of the board :**

16.1 Management of the Sugarfed shall vest in the Board of Directors. The Board shall exercise all such powers as may be necessary or proper for the management of the Sugarfed and for carrying out the objects for which the Sugarfed has been established, subject, however, to the provisions of the Act, Rules and the Bye-laws.

16.2 Without prejudice to the general powers conferred by these bye-laws, the Board shall have the power to :

- i) elect Chairman and Vice Chairman of the Board;
- ii) observe in all their transactions, the provisions of the Act, Rules, framed thereunder, and the Bye-Laws;
- iii) set up industrial units for value addition to Sugar mills products/by-products;
- iv) purchase or hire plant, machinery and other assets for the business of the Sugarfed;
- v) sell, or otherwise dispose of, any land, machinery or any other movable property, if not required for the business of the Sugarfed;
- vi) maintain or cause to be maintained a true and accurate account of all monies received and disbursed and all stocks bought and sold;
- vii) keep or cause to be kept a true account of all assets and liabilities of the Sugarfed;
- viii) consider the audit notes and take necessary action on them;
- ix) prepare and lay or cause to be prepared and laid before the annual general meeting, profit and loss account and audited balance sheet;
- x) dispose of applications for membership and to admit members;
- xi) give directions to the Managing Director to summon general their report, subject to the prior approval of the Registrar;
- xxxii) authorise one of the Directors to take part in the election of other cooperative societies of which Sugarfed is member;

xxxiii) authorise one of the Directors and the Managing Director to sign the share certificate and other instruments and to affix common seal of the Sugarfed on such documents;

xxxiv) Levy production Cess and fix Supervisory Service charges on the sugar mills subject to the approval of the Registrar; and

xxxv) make arrangements ninety days before the expiry of its term, for the constitution of a new Board.

### **16.3 Chairman :**

The Chairman of Sugarfed shall have following duties and powers :-

i) To preside over the meetings of the Board and General Body. However, in the absence of Chairman, his powers/function shall be exercised/performed by Vice Chairman or as provided in the Act, Rules and the byelaws.

ii) To exercise right of casting vote in the event of equality of votes on any issue in a meeting of the Board/General Body.

iii) To sign the proceedings of the meetings of the Board/General Body.

iv) To have a right to seek information from the Managing Director relating to performance of the Sugarfed and its functions including the information relating to financial matters. For this purpose the channel of communication would be through the Managing Director.

### **17. managing director :**

17.1 The Managing Director shall be the whole time Chief Executive Officer of the Sugarfed. He shall be appointed by the Govt. The Managing Director shall have all the powers and duties to run the business and administration of the Sugarfed and all the employees of Sugarfed and the employers constituting the Common Cadre shall exercise their powers and perform their duties under his Administrative Superintendence and Control.

17.2 Without prejudice to the general powers conferred by those byelaws, the Managing Director shall have the following powers and duties:

i) exercise general control over the administration of the Sugarfed;

ii) convene meetings of the Board and its committees as and when required, and record proceedings of such meetings;

iii) administer the day-to-day affairs and supervise and manage day to day business of the Sugarfed and issue directions, orders or instructions to any functionary of the Sugarfed;

iv) receive all copies and securities on behalf of the Sugarfed and make arrangements for proper maintenance and custody of cash balance and other properties of the Sugarfed;

- v) endorse and transfer promisory notes, Govt. and other securities and to endorse, sign, encash, cheques and other negotiable instruments on behalf of the Sugarfed.
- vi) sign all deposit receipt and operate on the accounts of the Sugarfed with the banks and the financing agencies jointly with another officer as authorised by the Board;
- vii) appoint, suspend, dismiss or otherwise punish employees of the Sugarfed in accordance with service rules or otherwise as per conditions laid down by the Registrar, or provisions of any other state applicable to them;
- viii) take securities from such employees as are determined or laid down by the Registrar or the Board;
- ix) institute, conduct, defend, compromise, refer to arbitration or abandon legal proceedings in favour of or against the Sugarfed or its officers of employees through any officer or employee of the Sugarfed or otherwise through legal practioners or any other person authorised by him, in this behalf;
- x) sanction establishment and contingent expenses;
- xi) determine, powers, duties and responsibilities of the employees of the Sugarfed subordinate to him;
- xii) enter into negotiations and contracts and rescined and make such notes, deeds and instruments as may be necessary on behalf of the Sugarfed in relation to any of the aforesaid, or otherwise in the interest of the Sugarfed;
- xiii) take necessary steps in emergent cases as may be necessary to avoid any loss, or prevent damage or loss to the assets, properties and interests of the Sugarfed, subject to ratification by the Board;
- xiv) appoint custodians of books and records and other properties of the Sugarfed;
- xv) provide for the safe custody of the 'Common Seal' of the Sugarfed;
- xvi) abide by the provisions of the Act, Rules and the byelaws of the Sugarfed and any other regulation, and to faithfull implement, the decisions taken by the General Body, Board or its sub-committees;
- xvii) exercise such powers as may be delegated to him by the Board of Directors of Sugarfed;
- xviii) conduct sale and purchase for the mills and Sugarfed subject to the general guidelines issued by the Board;
- xix) sanction payment of additional cane price and transportation charges by the mills with the approval of the Registrar;
- xx) invest surplus funds of Sugarfed;

- xxi) call for periodical reports/returns from sugar mills;
- xxii) certify copies of entries in the books of Sugarfed;
- xxiii) plan and prepare programme and policies of Sugarfed and placing the same before the Board for their approval;
- xxiv) delegate any of his powers and duties to the Additional Managing Director and or other officers of Sugarfed.

17.3 The Managing Director may delegate any of his powers to an officer next below him effective and efficient working of the Sugarfed.

17.4 The Managing Director and Additional Managing Director shall stand indemnified for all actions if the same were taken in good faith and in the interest of the business of the Sugarfed.

## **18. Allocation of profits:**

18.1 The net profits of a cooperative year, as per audited balance sheet, shall be allocated in the manner prescribed below.

18.2 Atleast 10% shall be carried to reserve fund.

18.3 Not more than 5% of the net profits shall be contributed to the Cooperative Education fund.

18.4 The remaining profit may be utilised for one or more of the following purposes:

- i) Payment of dividend to members at a rate not exceeding 20% per annum on the value of the paid up shares.
- ii) After one tenth of the net profit has been carried to reserve fund contribute an amount not exceeding 5% of the remaining net profit towards Cooperative Development Fund, which shall be utilised on the directions of the Registrar.
- iii) Creation of building fund, Bad and doubtful debt fund, depreciation fund, shares transfer fund or any other fund created by the Sugarfed.

## **19. Audit and Inspection :**

19.1 The accounts of the Sugarfed shall be audited atleast once a year by the person appointed or authorised under the Act.

19.2 The Sugarfed shall pay such audit fee as may be assessed from time to time by the competent authority.

19.3 If the Sugarfed is indebted to a Financing Institution it shall be competent for the representative of such Institution to inspect the books and record of the Sugarfed and the Managing Director shall arrange for the production of the books and record before such person.

**20. amendment of bye-laws:**

None of the Bye-laws herein contained shall be altered or rescinded and no bye-laws shall be added to except by vote of majority consisting of atleast two-third of the members present and voting at the general meeting specially called for the purpose or otherwise carried out under the provisions of the Act. The amendment so arrived at shall not take effect unless it is registered by the Registrar.

**21. Miscellaneous :**

21.1 The Sugarfed may constitute a Common Cadre of employees of member sugar mills in such a manner as may be provided in the Rules governing the common cadre. The common cadre shall be governed by the service Rules framed by Sugarfed with the prior approval of the Registrar, Cooperative Societies, Punjab.

21.2 All disputes relating to business of the Sugarfed shall be disposed off in the manner provided in the Act and the Rules framed thereunder.

21.3 In the conduct of affairs of the Sugarfed the Board of Directors and the Managing Director shall exercise due prudence and diligence expected in an ordinary course of business.

21.4 The Reserve fund of the Sugarfed shall be indivisible and no member shall be entitled to any part of it.

21.5 should, However, any doubt arise with regard to the interpretation of any of these bye-laws, the matter shall be referred to the Registrar whose decision shall be final

21.6 The Sugarfed, may in the circumstances specified in the relevant provisions of the Act, be wound up and its registration cancelled by the Registrar in accordance with the procedure laid down therein.